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UNITED STATES DISTRICTCOURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

Civil No. 

SECURITIESAND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 
) 
) 

DAVID J.LUBBEN, ) 
) 

Defendant. ) 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission('Commission")allegesasfollows against 

defendantDavid J. Lubben ("Lubben'): 

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS 

1. From no later than October 1996 through 2005, defendantDavid J. Lubben, then 

GeneralCounselandSecretaryofUnitedHealth Group Inc. ('Unitedllealth ' or the "Company'), 

enriched himself and others at the Company by participatingin a stock optionsbackdating 

schemsat UnitedHeal*r, in whichhindsightwas used to pick advantageousgrantdates for the 

Company's nonqualified stock options,Onmanyoccasions,theoptions'purportedgrantdates 

coincided with, or were close to, dates ofhistorically low annual and quarterlyclosingpricesfor 

UnitedHealth'scommonstock. UnitedHealth used the closingpriceof the Company's cornmon 

stock on thosedays as the stike priceofthe optionsthatweregranted.As a r€sult oflubben's 

conductand the conduct of othersat the Company, UnitedHealth routinely made grantsof 
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disguisedandundisclosedin-the-moneystock options to its officers and employees, Various 

individuals,including Lubben or others acting at his dfuectio4 created false or misleading 

Company records indicating that thegrantshadoccurredontheearlier dates when tle 

Company'sstockpricehad been at a low. 

2. ManyUnitedHealth option grantscontradictedtheCompany'spublicdisclosures 

that it only grantedoptions at strike pricesnot lessthan the fair value ofits common stock on the 

date ofgrant, and conhavetred certa.inof UnitedHealth's stock option plansthatpmhibitedin­

the-moneystock options. 

3, Lubbenpersonallyreceivednumerousbackdatedgrantsofoptions, representing 

as many as3,867,784sharesof UnitedHealthstockon a spliladjusted basis. He exercised more 

than 1,791,648 ofthose options for approximately in gainsattributable$1,115,810 io improper 

backdating. 

4. Because backdating, filed with theCommissionofthe undisolosed UnitedHealth 

and disseminated to investors quarterlyand annual reports, proxystatemenk and registation 

statementsthat Lubben knew, or wasrecklessin not knowing, contained materially false and 

misleading statements pertainingto the true grantdatesofunitedHealthoptions. This caused 

investors to believe, falsely, that the Company grantedoptioruwith strike pricesequal to the fair 

marketvalue of UnitedHealth stock on the date of grant. In addition, contrary to Generally 

AcceptedAccountingPrinciples('GAAP'), UnitedHealthdid not record or disclosethe 

compensationexpensesit incunedas a result of the in-the-money podionsof the optiongrants, 

Consequendy,UnitedHealth materially understatedits compensationexpensesand materially 

overstatedits quarterlyand annual pretaxeamingsand eamings persharein its Iinancial 

statements. restated and disolosed On March 6,2007, UnitedHealth its financial statements 
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curnulativepre-taxerrors in stock-based compensationaccounting,which were material to the 

Company's financial statementsfor eachyearfrom 1994 through 2005 and totaled$l-526billion 

for that periodunder Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 ('APB 25'). UnitedHealth 

alsoannouncedthatits financial statements for thisperiod,and all earningsandpressreleases 

aad similar communications issued by the Company for such periodandtherelatedreportsof the 

Company'sindependent publicaccounting nolonger be relied upon. registered firm,should 

5. By engaging in the acts alleged in this Complaint,Lubben:(1)violated Section 

17(a) oflhe SecuritiesAct of 1933 (the"SecuritiesAct') [5 U.S.C.$ 77q(a)],Sectionslo(b), 

13ft)(5),la(a),and l6(a) ofthe Securities ExchangeActof 1934("ExchangeAct") U5U.S.C. 

$$78j(b), 78n(bX5), 78n(a), and78p(a)1,and Exchange Act Rules l0b-5,l3b2-1,14a-9,and 

l6a-3[17C.F.R.$$240.10b-5,240.13b2-l,240.14a-9, (2)aided and abetted and 240.16a-3]; 

UnitedHealth'sviolationsofSectionl3(a), 13ft)(2)(A), and l3(b)(2)@) ofthe Exchange Act 

ll5 U.S.C.$g78n(a),78(m)(b)(2)(A),and78(m)(bX2XB)laad Exchange Act Rules l2b-20, 

l3a-1,13a-11,and l3a-13 p7 C.F.R. 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-131; $$240.12b-20, 240.13a-11, 

and(3)aided and abetted violationsofSection 16(a) [15U.S.C.$78p(a)] and Exchange Act 

Rule l6a-3 u7 C.F.R.$240.16a-31byUnitedHealthofficers who reported to the Commission 

stock option grants. 

6, The Commission seeks ajudgment from the Court: (a)enjoiningLubbenfrom 

eneagingin future violations ofthe federal securitieslaws;(b)requiring him to disgorge, with 

prejudgmentinterest, ill-gotlen gainsderived ftom his violations; (c) requiring him to paya civil 

monetarypenalty pursuant to Section 20(d) of the SecuritiesAct and Section 2l(d)(3) ofthe 

ExchangeAct [5 U.S.C.$$77(d) and 78u(dX3)]; and(d)barringhim from acting as an officer 
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or director ofa publiccompanypursuantto Section 20(e)ofthe Securities Act and Section 

21(d)(2) ofthe ExchangeAct [15U.S.C.$$77(e) and 78u(dX2)]. 

JURISDICTIONAND VENUE 

7. The Court has jurisdictionof this civil enforcement actionpursuantto Section 

22(a) ofthe SecuritiesAct andSections2l(d), 21(e), and 27 ofthe Exchange Act [15U.S.C.$$ 

77v(a),78u(d),78(u)(e),and 78aal. Lubben, directly or indirectly, made useofthemeansor 

instrumentsofinterstatecommerce,ofthe mails, or ofthe facilities ofa nationalsecurities 

exchangein connectionwith the acts, transactions,practicesand courses ofbusinessallegedin 

this Complaint. 

8. Venueliesin the District ofMinnesota pursuantto Section22(a)ofthe Secudties 

Act and Section27 ofthe ExchangeAct [15U.S.C.$$77v(a) and 78aa]. Defendant Lubben 

residesin Minnesota, UnitedHealthis a Minnesota corporation,and many of the acts alleged 

herein occurred in Minnesota. 

THE PARTIES 

9. Theplaintiff is the Securities and Exchange Commission, whichbrings this civil 

enforcementactionpursuantto the authority confened on it by Section 20(b) of tle Securities 

Act and Sections21(d)and 2l(e) ofthe Exchange Act [15U.S.C.gg77t(b),78u(d)and78u(e)]. 

10. DefendantLubben, age fifty-six (56),livesnear Mimeapolis, Minnasota-Lubben 

servedasUnitedHealth'sGeneral Counsel fromapproximatolyOctober1996until October15, 

2006. While Gensral Counsel, Lubben reviewed and approved periodicreports,registration 

statements,andproxystatementstheCompanyfiled with the Commissionand disseminated to 

investoN. 
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FACTS 

A. Background 

11. DuringLubben'stenure, UnitedHealth relied heavily on stock optionsas a 

competitive tool to recruit, retain, and compensete employeesin lieu ofhigher cash 

compensation.Each option gavethegranteethe right to buy one share of UnitedHealth common 

stock frorn the Companyat a set price,calledthe "exercise" or "strike"price,on a futule date 

after the option vested. The option was "in-the-money'' whenever thetradingpriceof 

UnitedHealth'scommon stock exceeded the option's strike price. Theoptionwas"at-the­

money''wheneverthe trading priceof UnitedHealth's comrnonstock and the shike pricewere 

thesame.Theoptionwas "underwater" or "out-of-the-money''wheneverthehadingpriceof 

UniledHealth'scommonstock was less thanthestrikeprice. 

12. Throughouttherelevant time period,UnitedHealth accounted for stock options 

using the intrinsic method described in APB 25. Under APB 25, UnitedHealth was requircd to 

record as an expenseon its financial statements the"intrinsicvalue"ofa stock option on its 

"measuementdat€." The measurement date, as defined by APB 25, was thefirst date on which 

the following information was known: (i) the number ofoptions that an individual employeeis 

entitled to receive, (ii) theidentityofthe ernployee receiving the options, and (iii) the strike 

pric€. Options that werein-the-moneyon the measurement datehad intrinsic value, and the 

difference between its strike priceand thg quotedmarketpricewere to have been tecorded as 

compensationexperseto be recognized over the vesting periodofthe option. Options that were 

at-the-moneyor out-of-the-money on the measurement dale did not need to be expensed. 

13. Lubben knew or wasreckless in not knowing thatAPB 25 required UnitedHeallh 

to record an expense if it grantedemployeesin-the-moneystock options. 
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B, UnitedH€alth's Option Plans and Public Disclosures about Stock Optlons 

14. In its filings with the Commission for at least fiscal years1994 through 2005, 

UnitedHealthroutinely represented that it complied with APB 25, and its financial stat€ments 

reflecled that the Company had not recognized compensation costfor its employee stock options. 

For example, in its 2002 Annual Report UnitedHealth stated: "we do not recognizecompensation 

expensein connection with employee stock option grantsbecausewe grantstock options at 

exercisepricesnot less than the fair value of our commonstockonthedate of gralt." 

15. Beginning in approximately 2002, UnitedHealth grantedmillions of stock options 

pursuantto the Company's shareholder-approved2002StockIncentivePlan(the'2002 Plan"). 

The2002 Plan pmhibitedUnitedHealth from grantingstock options with strike pricesof less 

thanthe stock's fair market valueon the dateof srant. 

C. TheBackdatlngScheme 

16. From no later than 1996 tlrough 2005, Lubben intentionallyor recklessly 

disregardedand contavened UnitedHealth'spublicdisclosuresaboutstock options and, starting 

in 2002, provisionsofthe 2002 Plan, by participatingin a ssheme to look back and choose or 

recommend,with the benefit ofhindsight, purported gafi dates that coincidedwith the dales of 

low closing pricesfor UnitedHealth stock, resulting in in-the-money options. 

17. Aspartofthis backdating scheme, UnitedHealth retrospectively priced"interim 

grants"to newlyhired employees, includingemployeeshired in connection with companies 

acquired by UnitedHealth. Theseinterimgrantsroutinely were pricedshortly after the end ofthe 

quarteror month in which the hireor acquisition occurred. The purporteddate ofthe grantwas 

that which corresponded to thelowestsharepricebetweenthe date of theoffer letter, 

employmetrt,or aequisition andtheend ofthe quarteror month in which the event took place. 
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Thispolicy was approved by Lubben, along with others, wasreducedto writing no later thar 

2000, and was refured in approximately 2002. 

18. DuringLubben'stenure at UnitedHealt[ the Company grautedapproximately42 

million split-adjusted sharesof in-the-money interimgrants,whilorecording zero compensation 

expenseunder APB 25. In its March 2007 restatement, Unitedllealth reduced eamingsbefore 

income taxes by approximately $78million under APB 25 as a result of accounting errorsfor 

these backdated interjmgrants. 

19. Also as partofthis backdating UnitedHealth pricedscheme, retrospectively 

"Massgmnts." Massgrantswerebroad-basedgrantsmade once or twice per year to one or more 

categonesof UnitedHealthemployees,includingthousandsof middle and senior managers and 

top officers with ownership reporting obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act 

('Section16gants') U5 U.S.C.$78p(a)1,whichincludedLubben.WilliamW. McGuire, M.D. 

(McGuire), Unitedllealth's Chairman and CEO while Lubben was General Counsel,usually 

determinedthe striks pricefor mass grants.Fornon-Seclion16 mass grants,McGuirewas 

authorizedby theCompany'sapplicablestockoptionplansto determinethe date ofthe grantand 

the strike price, ForSection16grants,theCompensationCommittee approved grantdates and 

stike priceschosen by McGuire, 

20, Lile the interim grantsdescribedabove in pangraph17, McGuire looked back 

overa window of time and selected thepurported$ant date for massgants. Usually,this 

windowopened when McGuirefirst began cont€mplatinga mass grantand closed aroundthe 

n€xt CompensationCommitteeme€ting. But the size of the window was not fxed or 

consistent*it couldbe as long as four to six months, or as shod asa week or two. However 
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longthewindow,massgrantswereoftenpricedat or very near the lowest point in 

UnitedHealth's stockprice.quarterly 

21. During Lubben's tenure th.rough 2005, McGuire initiated at leastthan 23 separate 

rnassgrantsof hundreds of millions of split-adjusted shares,whilezero compensation expense 

was recorded by the Company under APB 25. In its March 2007 restatement, UnitedHealth 

reduced earnings bsfore income taxes by approximately $374million underAPB 25 as a result 

of these backdated grants.mass 

22. Lubben knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that Mccuirc pricedmassgrants 

with the benefit ofhindsight, and assistedMcGuire's actions in several ways. Lubben 

participatedin discussionsofoption pricesand dates, preparedor obtained stock pricecharts 

used in connectionwith discussionsof option pricesand dales, and facilitated cormunications 

betweenMcGuireand the CompensationCommitteewherebybackdatedgrantswere 

recommendedand approved. In addition,Lubbenand other UnitedHealth oflicers and 

employees, routinelyprepaxedfalseor misleadhg acting at his direction or with his knowledge, 

official grantauthorizationdocumentsindicating that the selection ofthe strikepricefor mass 

gantsandinterimgrantsoccurredonthepurportedgrantdate, which date usually was earlier 

than when the selection had actually occurred and earlier than when the final documents were 

preparedor signed. These inaccurate and misleading documents consistedof Certificates signed 

by McGuire authorizing grants ("CEO Certificates'), and Written Actions and meeting minutes 

ofthe Compensation Comrnittee.The inaccurate stock option grantinformation reflected in 

these authorizing documentsconcealed dateunder APB 25, misledihe real measur.ement 

UnitedHealth'sextemalauditors, and directlycausedUnitedHealth to file false and misleading 

financial statements. UnitedHealth routinely providedcopies ofthese documentsdirecdy to 
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UnitedHealth's auditors. The inaccurate date and pricedatafromthese documents also was 

entered into a software application called Equity Edge, which UnitedHealth used to record and 

account for employee stock options. Equity Edge invariably calculatedzerocompensation 

expenseunder APB 25 because the strike priceon the purported gant date ofthe option always 

equaledthe fair market value of UnitedHealth's stock on that date. The Company regularly 

providedits auditors inaccurate options data ftom Equity Edge. 

23. As a result of the foregoing, books and records UnitedHealth's falsely and 

inaccuratelyreflectedthe dates ofoption grants,theCompany's stock-based compensation 

expenses, financialcondition. As a result, on March 6, 2007, UnitedHealthand the Company's 

restatedits financial statements and disclosed cumulativepretax errorsin stock-based 

compensationaccounting totaling $L526 billion under APB 25. UnitedHealth's stock option 

accountingerrors, including those directly or indirectly causedby Lubben, were material. 

UnitedHealth's frnancial statements for fiscal yean 1996 tlrough 2005, which Lubben rwiewed 

as General Counsel, alsofalselyrepresentedthatUnitedHealth follorved APB 25 and that it did 

notgrantin-the-moneyoptions. 

24. Additionally, Lubben and others at the Company were responsible for devising 

and/ormaintainingUnitedHealth'sinadequatesystem of intemal accountingcontrols for the 

Company's stock option practices,which included the use of CEO Certificates and Written 

Actions and meeting minutes of the CompensationCommittee. In 2006, UnitedHealth disclosed 

thatthe Company had identified a significant deficiency in its conhols relating to stock option 

planadminishationand accounting for and disclosureofstock optiongrants. 

25. From1996 through 2005, Lubben received split-adjusted3,867,784 UnitedHealth 

stock options. Most or all ofthese options were backdated. Lubben has exercised and sold 
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1,791,64E gainof more than $1,115,810,ofthese backdated options for an in-the-money 

Lubben also received nearly$287,500 cash bonuses in incentive-based in 2005 and 2006 tied io 

eamingspersharetargets that UnitedHealthwould not have achieved under Iinancial statements 

rsstateddue to errors in stock-based compensationaccounting. 

26. Prior to 2003, Lubben reported his stock option grants pursuant to Section 16 of 

the Exchange Act [15U.S.C.$ 78p(a)]on Commission Forms 4 and 5 that misstated the options' 

grantdatesand corresponding strikeprices.As General Counsel, Lubben also prepared, 

approvedor signed Forms 4 and 5 filed on behalfofvarious other Section 16 officers of 

UnitedHealth that contained false ormisleadingstatementswith regfid to th€ grantdatesand 

strikepricesof their options. 

FIRSTCLAIM 

(Violationsof Securities ActSection 17(a)) 

27. The Commission paragraphsrealleges 1through 26. 

28. Lubben, directly or indirectly, byuse of the means or instruments ofint€rstate 

commerceor ofthe mails, in the offeror sale of securities, and with knowledge, recklessness,or 

negligence:(a)employed devices, schemesor artifices to deftaud; (b)obained money or 

propertyby means ofuntrue siatem€nts of material fact or omitted to state material facts 

necessaryin order to make the statements made, in light ofthe circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading; or (c) engagedin tansactions, practicesor courses ofbusinesswhich 

operaledor would operate as a fraud or deceituponpurchasersof UnitedHealth securities. 

29. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, Lubbenviolated Sections 17(a)(l),(2), 

and(3)ofthe SecuritiesAct [5 U.S.C.$$7zq(a)(t),(z),and(3)]. 

10
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SECONDCLAIM
 

(YiolationsofExchqnge Act Section 10(b)and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5)
 

30. TheCommissionreallegesparagraphsI tlrough 29, 

31. Lubben, directly or indirectly, by use ofthe means or instruments ofintsstate 

commerceor ofthe mails, or ofthe facility ofa national exchange, withsecurities in cormection 

thepurchaseor sale ofsecurities, or recktessness: devices,andwith knowledge (a)employed 

schsmesor artifices to defraud; (b)made untrue statementsof material factor omitted to state 

materialfacts necessary to make the stat€mentsmade, in light of the circumstances ulder whioh 

they wore made,not misleading; or (c)engagedin acts, practices,or courses ofbusinesswhich 

operatedor would operate asa ftaud or deceit upon any person. 

32. By engaging in the conductalleged above, Lubben violated Section 10(b) ofthe 

ExchangeAct and Exchange Act Rule10b-5[5 U.S.C.$7Ajft); 17 C.F.R. $Z0.l0b-5]. 

THIRD CLAIM
 

(Yiolationsof Exchange Act Section I 3 ft)(5) andExchangeAct Rule 13b2-l)
 

33. The Commission reallegesparagraphsI through 32. 

34. Lubben, directly or indirectly, knowingly circumventedor knowingly failedto 

implementasystem ofinternal accounting contols at UnitedHealth subject to Section 

l3(bX2XB) of the Exchange Act [5 U.S.C.$ 78m(b)(2)(B)],lcrowingly falsified books, records 

and accounts at the Companysubjectto Section13(b)(2XA)ofthoExchangeAct [15U.S.C.$ 

78m(b)(2)(.1)1,and caused io be falsified, such books, records andaccounts. 

35. By ergaging in the conduct alleged above, Lubben violated Section l3(b)(5) of 

theExchangeAct and Exchange Act Rule 13b2-l [15U.S.C.$ 78m(b)(5);17C.F.R.$ 

240.t3b2-11. 

1 l  
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FOURTH CLAIM 

(Violationsof Exchange Act Section14(a) and Exchange Act Rule 14a-9) 

36, TheCommissionreallegesparagraphsI through 35. 

37. Lubben, directly or indirectly, by use of the meansor instruments ofinterstate 

commerceor ofthe mails, or ofthefacility ofa national securities exchange,knowingly, 

recklesslyor negligently solicitedproxiesby means ofa proxystatement,formofproxy, notice 

of meeting or other communication, written or oral, containing statements which,at the timo and 

in light ofthe circumstancesunderwhich they were made, were false and misleading with 

respectto material facts, or whichomitted to stete materialfacts which were necessary in order 

to rnake th€ statementsmade not false or misleading or which were necessaryto correct 

statementsin earlier false or misleading communications with respect io the solicitation of 

proxiesfor the same meeting or subject mafter. 

38. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, Lubben violated Section l4(a) ofthe 

BxchangeAct and Exchange Act Rule 14a-9[15U.S.C.0 78n(a); 17 C.F.R.g 240.14a-9]. 

FIF-IH CLAIM 

(Violationsof Exchange Act Section16(a) and Exchange ActRule16a-3) 

39, TheCorffnission realleges paragraphsI through 38. 

40. Section 16(a) oftheExchangeAct [15U.S.C.g 78p(a)] and Exchange Act Rule 

16a-3[17C.F.R.$ 240.16a-3]require offrcers, directorsandbenefisialownersofmorethanten 

percentof any class of equity security registered to Exchange pursuant Act Sectionl2 [l5 U.S.C. 

$ 78ll to file a report with the Commission disclosingany change ofhis or her beneficial 

ownership of those securities. Lubben filed false or misleading reports disclosingchangesin his 

12
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beneficial ownerstrip of UnitedHealthsecuritiesthathewasrequired to file as an ofrrcer ofthe 

Company. 

41. By engaging in the conductallegedabove,Lubben violated Section 16(a) ofthe 

ExchangeAct and Exchange ActRule 16a-3 [5 U.S.C.$78p(a); 17 C.F.R.$ 240.16a-3]. 

SIXTH CLAIM
 

(AidingandAbettingYiolationsofExchangeActSection 16(a) and Exchange ActRule16a-3)
 

realleges I through 
42. The Commission paragraphs 41. 

43. Section l6(a) ofthe Exchange Act [ 5U.S.C.$ 78p(a)]andExchangeAct Ruie 

16a-3[7 C.F.R.$240.16a-3]require officers, directors and beneficial ownersofmorettran ten 

percentof any class of equity security registered pursuantto Exchange Act Section 12 [15U.S.C. 

$ 781]to file a report with the Commission disclosinganychangeofhis or her beneficial 

ownershipofthose securities. Lubbensigned,prepareddirected, approved andfiled falseor 

misleadingreportsdisclosingchangesil the beneficial ownership of UnitedHealthsecuritiesof 

other Unitedllealth officersthat they were required to file as officers ofthe Company.Lubben 

knowingly or recklessly gavesubstantialassistanceto the other UnitedHealthofficers in their 

violationsofSection 16(a) ofthe Exchange Actand Exchange ActRule l6a-3 [15U.S.C.g 

78p(a);17 C.F.R. 0240.16a-31. 

44. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, Lubben aided and abettedviolationsof 

Sectior 16(a) ofthe Exchange Act and Exchange Act Rule 16a-3[15U.S.C.$78p(a); 17 C.F.R. 

$240.16a-31 UnitedHealth persons.by various Section 16 reporting 

l 3  
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SEVENTH CLAIM 

(AidingandAbettingViolationsof Exchange Act
 
Sectionl3(a) andRules 12b-20, 13a-1,I3a-11 and l3a-13 thereunder)
 

45. TheCommission paragraphs 44.realleges I through 

46. Sectionl3(a) ofthe Exchange Act [15U.S.C.g 78m(a)],and Exchange Act Rules 

13a-1,13a-11, andZ0.l3a-13], require and l3a-13 [7 C.F.R$$240.13a-1,240.13a-ll, issuers 

ofregistered securities to file with the Commissionfactually accurate annualandquarterly 

reports. Exchange Act Rule l2b-20 [7 C.F.R.S240.12b-20]fr[ther providestha! in addition 

to the information expressly required to be included in a statement or !€pod, thereshall be added 

such fiulher material information,if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements,in 

the light ofthecircumstancesunderwhich they were made, not misleading. 

47. UnitedHealth filed with theCommissionand disseminat€d to investors false and 

misleadingquarterlyand affiual reports in violation of Section 13(a) ofthe Exchange Act and 

Exchange l3a-11, g78m(a);17C.F.R.ggAct Rules l2b-20, 13a-1, and l3a-13 [5 U.S.C. 

U0.l2b-20,240.13a-1,240.13a-11, Lubbenknowinglyor recklessly nd 240.13a-131. gave 

substantialassistanceto UnitedHeallh in its violationsof Section 13(a) ofthe ExchangeAct and 

ExchangsAct Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, l3a-11, and 13a-13 [15U.S.C.g78m(a);l7 C.f.R.$$ 

240.12b-ZO,240.13a-1,240.13a-11,and 240.13a-131. 

48. By engagingin the conduct allegedhbove,Lubbenaided and abetted 

UnitedHealth'sviolationsofSectionl3(a)of theExchangeAct and Exchange ActRules l2b-20, 

l3a-1,13a-ll,and 13a-13 [15U.S.C.$ 78m(a);17C.F.R.Sg240.12b-20,240.13a-1,240.13a­

11.and 13a-131. 

t4 
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EIGHTII CLAIM
 

(AidingandAbetting Violations ofExchangeAct SectionsI3(b)(2)(A)andl3(b)(2)(B))
 

49. TheCommissionrealleges paragraphs 1through48. 

50. Section l3(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15U.S.C.g 78m(b)(2)(A)]requires 

issuersto make and keep books, records, and aocounts whicb,in reasonable detail, accurately 

and fairly reflect the transactions anddispositionsof its assets. Section 13(bX2XB) of the 

ExchangeAct [5 U.S.C.$78m(bX2XB)]requiresissuersto deviseandmaintaina system of 

internalaccounting controls sufficient 1oprovidereasonableassurances v/erethat transactions 

recordodas necessary topemit preparation of financialstatementsin conformity with GAAP 

andtomainain the accountabilityof assets. 

51. UnitedHealthviolatedSectionsl3(b)(z)(A)and l3(b)(2)(B) ofthe Exchange Acr 

ll5 U.S.C.gg78m(b)(2)(A)and 78(m)(b)(2)(B). Lubben knowingly or recklessly gaye 

substantialassistanceto UnitedHealth in its failure to make and keepaccuratebooks,records and 

accountsand its failure to devise and maintain a sufficient system of intemal accounting 

controls. 

52. By engaging in the conductallegedabove,Lubbenaided and abetted 

UnitedHealth's ofSections 13(}XZXA) and 13(b)(2)(B) oftheExchangeAct [15violations 

and 7sm(b)(z)@)1. u.s.c.$$78mft)(2)(A) 

l )  
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
 

WHEREFORE,theCommissionrespectfullyrequeststhatthe Court:
 

t, 

PermanentlyenjoinLubbenfrom violating Section17(a) ofthe SecuritiesAct [15U.S.C. 

$7zq(a)1,Sectionsl0(b), 13(b)(s), la(a), and l6(a) of the Exchang€ Act [15U.S.C.$$78j(b), 

78m(b)(5),78n(a),and78p(a)1,andExchangeAct Rules l0b-5, M2-1,l4a-9, andl6a-3117 

C.F.R.$$240.10b-5,240.13b2-l,240.14a-9, and aiding and abetting and240.16a-31; violations 

ofSectionl3(a), ts(bXzXA), 13(bX2XB), and l6(a) ofthe ExchangeAct [5 U.S.C.0g78m(a), 

78m(b)(2)(A),78m(b)(2)(B),and78p(a)land Exchange Act Rules 12V20,l3a-1,13a-l l, 13a­

13, and 16a-3[7 C.F.R. 240.13a-1, and 240.16a-3]; $$240.12b-20, 240.13a-11,240.13t-r3, 

IL 

OrderLubbento disgorge all ill-gotten gainsobtained by virtue ofthe conductalleged 

herein, and to pay prejudgment interestthercon; 

OrderLubben to paycivil monetary penaltiespursuantto Section 20(d) of the Securities 

Act and Section2l(d)(3) ofthe Exchange Act [5 U.S.C.gg77t(d) and 78u(d)(3)]; 

IV, 

BarLubbenfromserving as an officerordirector of apubliccompanypursuantto 

Section20(e) ofthe Securities Act and Section 2l(d)(2)ofthe Exchange Act tl5 U.S.C.0$ 

77t(e)and 78u(d)(2)l; and 

i 6  
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V. 

Grant such equitable reliefas maybeappropriateor necessary for thebenefit of krvestors 

pursuantto Section 2l(d)(5) ofthe Exchange Act. 

.1, /  

Dated: December:] 2008 
Washington, D.C. 

M
Mark A. Adler 
Fredric D. Firestone 
GeraldW. Hodgkins 
ConwayT. Dodge, Jr. 
David A, Neuman 
Attomeys for Plaintiff 
SECUzuTIES COMMISSIONAND EXCHANGE 
100 F Street, N.E. 
WashingtoqDC 20549-4030 
E-Mail:adlerma@sec.gov 
Phone:(202)5514402(Adler) 
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